IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant, CASE NO. SC10-1332 TFB NO. 2009-10,287(13B)

v.

| WILLIAM HENRY | WINTERS |
|---------------|---------|
| Respondent. | |
| | |

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

Henry Lee Paul

Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 508373

Chardean Mavis Hill

Assistant Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 58997 The Florida Bar 4200 George J. Bean Parkway Suite 2580 Tampa, Florida 33607-1496 (813) 875-9821

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

This case involves the taking of law firm files by Respondent Winters, for his "personal use" when he left the employment as an associate of the Law Offices of Richard Mulholland and Associates ("Mulholland Firm") in June 2001. (ROR 12, 14). Respondent had been an associate for the Mulholland Firm for approximately fifteen years when he decided to leave the practice and start his own firm with Marc Edward Yonker, who had also been an associate at the Mulholland Firm. (Exh. 8; TR 63-70, 93, 206-207).

This case was consolidated for trial with the complaint against Marc Edward Yonker, SC10-1333, TFB File No. 2009-10,288(13B). The disciplinary case was deferred due to civil litigation by Richard Mulholland against Winters and Yonker that concluded in June 2008. Respondent appealed a verdict of \$1,470,453.00 in damages for civil theft. (Exhs. 22, 26, 27). The judgment was overturned due to lack of proof "that the theft was connected to the loss of [Mulholland's] clients." *Winters v. Mulholland*, 33 So. 3d 54, Fla. 2010. (Exh. 27). Yonker did not appeal and paid the judgment in the amount of \$676,386.32. (Exhs. 22, 24, 25). Despite the reversal, the Second District Court of Appeal stated, "There is no real question that these activities constitute the unauthorized use of Mulholland's client files, misappropriation, fraud and deception. Thus, Mulholland did prove that a 'theft'

occurred." Winters v. Mulholland, 33 So. 3d 54, Fla. 2010. (Exh. 27).

Yonker left the firm on Friday, June 15, 2001 without notice. Respondent left the firm on or about Friday, June 22, 2001 without advance notice. (TR 89). Respondent took over the representation of approximately 12 former Mulholland clients. (Exh. 12, 13; TR 124-126, 685-687). Yonker took over the representation of approximately 64 Mulholland clients. (Exhs. 4, 5, 6, and 10; TR 216-217).

The allegations against respondent involve conduct surrounding his departure from the Mulholland Firm. Respondent Winters was charged with a violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) (commission of criminal act that reflects adversely on lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects), Rule 4-8.4(c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), and Rule 4-8.4(d) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice). The alleged violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) is based on Fla. Stat. § 812.014(1) (2001). It was alleged respondent committed theft by taking client case files from the Mulholland Firm without permission or authorization to remove client case files belonging to the Mulholland Firm. A review of the closing statements of the clients "taken" by

¹ The term "taken" is used herein because this is the word used in correspondence to adjusters and others to inform them that the Mulholland firm no longer represented clients and to direct all future correspondence to the new address. See Exh. 8, TR 85-89, 200-201. Winters admitted to signing a letter on behalf of

Yonker reveals the substantial aggregate value of the personal injury claims. When respondent left the Mulholland firm, he kept possession of "less than ten" client files. (ROR 10; TR 96-98). These filed were not returned until after a Writ of Replevin was served on June 29, 2001 by Mulholland seeking the return of the files. (Exh. 14; TR 96-98). The files were returned on or about July 3, 2001 (Exh. 14A; TR 98). Most of the files taken were for lucrative cases, including one case that settled for approximately five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00). (TR 68, 474-475, 619-620, 685-688). In 2001, Florida's theft statute provided:

A person commits theft if he or she knowingly obtains or uses, or endeavors to obtain or to use, the property of another with intent to, either **temporarily or permanently**: (a) Deprive the other person of a right to the property or a benefit from the property; (b) Appropriate the property to his or her own use or to the use of any person not entitled to the use of the property.

Fla. Stat. § 812.014 (1) (2001) (emphasis added). To obtain or use the property of another, one must take or exercise control over the property or is engage in "conduct previously known as ... conversion." Fla. Stat. § 812.012(3)(a) and (3)(d)1 (2001).

In a colloquy between the referee and respondent's counsel, respondent's counsel acknowledged that respondent's conduct of temporarily taking the files is a

conversion:

THE REFEREE: "... What do you call that when you take somebody else's property and copy it? I mean, is there such a thing as a - - are you allowed to borrow somebody else's files? Isn't it a technical violation of the conversion statute when you temporarily take it, even if you give it back?"

MR. SMITH: I think that's certainly arguable, Judge, and I understand your point. And I would concede to you that under the literal language of the statute that that would equate to a conversion."

(TR 904-905).

The referee further stated in relation to the "personal use" of the Mulholland Firm files that, "under Chapter 812.014 that there was ... a presumed value ... [that] would result in the conduct being a possible violation of that Statute to-wit: a second degree misdemeanor." (ROR 11). The Referee went on to state that there was a "technical" violation of the rules for, "the personal use of the files of the Mulholland Firm." (ROR 12). The referee also indicated that there was a "technical violation of the conversion statute." (TR 902-905). The referee found that this "technical" violation supported a finding of guilt for Rule 3-4.3 (misconduct and minor misconduct); and a not guilty finding for Rule 4-8.4(b), Rule 4-8.4(c) or Rule 4-8.4(d). The referee recommended a sanction of admonishment for minor misconduct. The Florida Bar requests that this Court find that respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d), and impose a ninety

day suspension as a sanction. The referee also found that respondent violated Rule 4-7.10(f) (firm names and letterhead-partnerships – 2001 Rule).

The referee ruled in favor of respondent on essentially every disputed factual issue and stated, "The Court finds that Mr. Mulholland's testimony is not reliable in any instances where witnesses refuted Mr. Mulholland's version of the facts." The Florida Bar does not challenge the findings of fact by the referee. However, this Court is asked to consider admissions and undisputed facts that, although relevant to this review, were omitted in the report of referee. This Court is also asked to consider certain evidence on which the referee did not make a specific finding and apparently did not consider relevant for mention in the report. The referee acknowledged he omitted certain facts and stated, "The portions of the evidence not mentioned in the Findings of Fact were not considered relevant for mention." (ROR 2).

The most significant facts that the referee failed to mention involve the admitted misrepresentation by respondent that mislead the Mulholland Firm into believing that Marc Yonker was still working with the firm when he had been actively and secretly signing Mulholland Firm clients to new fee agreements. (TR 82-85). Marc Yonker testified that this misrepresentation and departure from the firm without notice was intended to provide him "unimpeded" access to

Mulholland Firm clients. (TR 197-203). The referee also omitted mention of the fact that respondent only returned the Mulholland Firm files in his possession after a Writ of Replevin had been served requiring the return of the missing files. (TR 96-99, Exhs. 14, 14A). Although the report of referee relied on testimony of former Mulholland employee John McCue regarding his findings that it was the practice of the Mulholland Firm to "control the files," the report failed to mention that respondent was considered by McCue and other Mulholland Firm employees to be the "hatchet man" to enforce firm policies including the prohibition on taking firm files upon termination of employment. (ROR 8; TR 68-70, 571-573, 711, 718-720; Exh. 46 – Robert Dietz deposition at 23-29).

At the sanctions hearing the referee requested the parties to attempt to interpret his verbal ruling and to agree on a proposed report of referee based on his verbal ruling. (SH 124-125). The parties were unable to agree and submitted separate proposed reports. The Florida Bar submitted a proposed report of referee with a cover letter outlining the areas of disagreement. (IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter). The proposed report of referee submitted by The Florida Bar suggested specific findings as to the Rules and Standards. The areas of disagreement between The Florida Bar and the report proposed by respondent were discussed in the June 28, 2011 transmittal letter to the referee from The Florida

Bar. (IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter). The Bar generally requested specific findings as to the Rules and Standards. The letter articulated the Bar's requested approach of a addressing each issue in the case:

First, as a general approach to the proposed Report of Referee, The Florida Bar has drafted the proposed Report in an attempt to comply with the guidance provided by the Referee Manual, and Rule 3-7.6(m). Enclosed is a copy of the Referee Manual, revised June 2010, prepared by the Honorable Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court of Florida. As stated in this manual on p. 11, "a comprehensive report of referee under Rule 3-7.6(m) is beneficial to the supreme court so that the court need not make assumptions about the referee's intent or return the report of referee for clarification. The report should address each issue in the case and cite to available case law and standards, including aggravators and mitigators, for the referee's recommendations concerning guilt and discipline. See the Court Comment to Rule 3-7.6." A sample Report of Referee is included on pages 14-18. The Florida Bar has attempted to address all the Rules, Standards and case law presented at the Sanctions Hearing and has proposed specific language. Respondent's version has, to a great extent, avoided addressing the specific Rules, Standards and case law. The Florida Bar believes the lack of specificity advocated by Respondents is contrary to guidance provided by the Supreme Court.

(IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter).

As to the identification of applicable standards, the Bar requested the referee to identify Standard 7.2 as the applicable standard, which states "Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the

public, or the legal system." Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 7.2. (IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter). Additionally, the Bar requested that the report identify the consideration and rejection, by the referee, of Standard 5.12, which states "Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in criminal conduct ... that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice," because of a finding that the conduct, although knowing, did not seriously adversely reflect on the lawyer's fitness to practice. Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 5.12. (IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter). The Bar requested that the referee include the suggested language because it appeared to accurately represent the ruling made by the referee and clearly articulates the legal issue, now subject to *de novo* review by this Court.

Despite this request by the Bar, the referee chose not to identify any applicable standard for specific misconduct. (ROR 13-15). The referee also chose not to articulate why he chose not to identify any applicable standards as to the specific misconduct. (ROR 13-15).

As to the recommendation of not guilty as to Rule 4-8.4(b) and 4-8.4(c) the Bar requested that the referee articulate his reasoning and that the report should indicate that the referee made a finding that respondent's action did not, "reflect adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(b). (IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter). Similarly,

the Bar suggested that the report of referee should indicate that the referee made a finding that Respondents' conduct did not involve, "dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation." (IR 167- the Bar's June 28, 2011 letter). The Bar requested that the referee include the suggested language because it appeared to accurately represent the verbal ruling made by the referee and clearly articulates the legal issue, now subject to *de novo* review by this Court.

Despite this request by the Bar, the referee chose not to further explain why he recommended a finding of not guilty as to Rule 4-8.4(b) and Rule 4-8.4(c). (ROR 12-13). It appears that the referee did, in fact, draw conclude that the conduct did not reflect adversely on the respondent's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer or to involve dishonesty, deceit or misrepresentation. (ROR 12-13).

Additionally, although the referee acknowledged that Winters and Yonker kept their departure plans "secret," the referee simply ignored and failed to directly address the misrepresentation by respondent that Yonker had called in sick on Monday, June 18, 2001, when respondent knew Yonker had in fact terminated his employment without notice. (ROR 11-12; TR 82 -85, 196-200, 544-546, 612-615). Winters did not dispute participating in this misrepresentation, and was aware that Yonker would not return after leaving the Mulholland Firm on Friday,

June 15, 2001. (TR 82-85). This misrepresentation assisted Yonker in having "unimpeded" access to Mulholland Firm clients prior to the discovery by Mulholland that his employee had left the firm and was actively and secretly signing Mulholland Firm clients to new fee agreements. (TR 82-85, 196-200; IR 153 – the Bar's Memorandum of Law for Sanctions as to Winters). During the period of "unimpeded" access from June 15, 2001 to June 19,2001, Respondent Yonker signed approximately 43 former Mulholland Firm clients to new fee agreements. (Exh. 4; TR 201-203). The referee characterized the "secret plans" of Winters and Yonker as having "been a reasonable, if not necessary, step" in order to leave the firm. (ROR 11).

The referee emphasized lack of harm, specifically "any negative monetary effect," to clients or the public and the lack of proof of damage to the Mulholland Firm. (ROR 9-10, 12, 14-15). The referee also relied on the absence of as specific rule, as Rule 4-5.8 (Procedures for Lawyers Leaving Law Firms) was not adopted until 2006, in the determination of the appropriate sanction. (ROR 14-15). The referee also relied on the argument presented by respondent that The Florida Bar had, in the past, treated similar conduct with a grievance committee admonishment for minor misconduct in two separate cases. (ROR 14-15). The referee relied on these cases, which were not reviewed by this Court, as precedent to support his

recommendation. (ROR 15; IR 153 – the Bar's Memorandum of Law for Sanctions as to Winters).

The referee found one aggravating factor. Respondent received prior discipline in TFB No. 2004-11,581(13D). (ROR 15; Exh. 30). In 2005, Respondent agreed to accept a Grievance Committee Report of Misconduct and Admonishment. (ROR 15; Exh. 30). Respondent Winters was not diligent and had poor communication with a client regarding post settlement negotiation of provider claims for payment. (ROR 15; Exh. 30). The referee found one mitigating factor for character and reputation in the legal community. (ROR 15; SH 120).

The Florida Bar filed a complaint against Respondent Winters on July 8, 2010. A final hearing was held on March 21, 2011 through March 24, 2011 and March 28, 2011. On April 5, 2011, after considering the evidence and arguments, the Referee issued written findings of fact, without recommending any specific Rule violations. On July 19, 2011, the Referee issued his final Report of Referee, which incorporated his previous findings of fact. The Report of Referee was considered by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its July, 2011 meeting. The Board of Governors voted to seek review of the Referee's finding and conclusion that Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(b), Rules 4-8.4(c) and Rule 4-8.4(d) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Board of

Governors voted to seek review of the recommended sanction and to request a suspension of 90 days. The Bar does not challenge the factual findings made by the Referee. On September 12, 2011, The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Report of Referee. Pursuant to Rule 3-7.7, the jurisdiction of this Court is invoked.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent Winters committed theft when he took law firm files for his "personal use" when he left the employment as an associate of the Mulholland Firm. When respondent left the Mulholland Firm, he kept possession of "less than ten" client files. These filed were not returned until after a Writ of Replevin was served on June 29, 2001 by Mulholland seeking the return of the files. The files were not returned until July 3, 2001. The files taken were for the most lucrative cases in the Mulholland Firm, including one case that settled for approximately five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00).

In addition to the theft, respondent informed clients of his planned departure while he was still working at the Mulholland Firm, or while he retained the files after departure from the firm. Respondent admitted he secretly solicited clients and "could have" obtained agreement for future representation while still a Mulholland Firm employee. Several clients acknowledged agreeing to future representation in advance of Winters' departure from the Mulholland Firm.

Respondent Winters also assisted fellow departing associate Yonker in concealing his departure from the Mulholland Firm from Friday June 15, 2001 through Tuesday, June 19, 2001 in order to assist Yonker in having "unimpeded" access to Mulholland Firm clients. Yonker signed new fee agreements with

approximately 43 former Mulholland Firm clients by the time the Mulholland firm learned of his departure. The referee characterized the "secret plans" of Winters and Yonker to, "have been a reasonable, if not necessary, step" in order to leave the firm. The Florida Bar suggests the conduct of secretly meeting with clients and signing them to new fee agreements while working for the Mulholland Firm or while in possession of the client files after departure from the Mulholland Firm, as a matter of law, reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer.

In *Florida Bar v. Kossow*, 912 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2005), this Court identified a bright line policy condemning unauthorized misuse of firm resources. This Court stated in *Kossow*,

Kossow's conduct towards the firm was disloyal and deceitful. An attorney who uses firm resources to place his or her pecuniary interests over those of the firm engages in misconduct that indubitably calls into question the attorney's fitness to practice law...

Id. at 548. The Florida Bar relied on *Kossow* in arguing that theft of firm resources deserved serious discipline. The referee recommended that respondent was not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(b) (commission of a criminal act that reflects adversely on lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects), Rule 4-8.4(c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or

misrepresentation), or Rule 4-8.4(d) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice). The referee recommended a finding of guilt for Rule 3-4.3 (misconduct and minor misconduct). The referee also found that respondent violated Rule 4-7.10(f) (firm names and letterhead-partnerships – 2001 Rule), for which the referee recommended that respondent receive an admonishment for minor misconduct. The Florida Bar requests that this Court find that respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d), and impose a ninety day suspension as a sanction.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. *Florida Bar v. Nicnick*, 963 So.2d 219, 221 (Fla. 2007). If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, then this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. *Florida Bar v. Porter*, 684 So.2d 810, 813 (Fla. 1996).

Where there are no disputed genuine issues of material fact and the only disagreement is whether the undisputed facts constitute unethical conduct, the referee's findings present a question of law that the Court reviews *de novo*.

Florida Bar v. Brownstein, 953 So.2d 502, 510 (Fla. 2007). The determination of whether the referee's finding of facts support a finding that respondent violated Rules 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) is subject to *de novo* review.

As to discipline, although a referee's recommendation is persuasive, this Court does not pay the same deference to this recommendation as it does to the findings of fact because this Court has the ultimate responsibility to determine the appropriate sanction. *Florida Bar v. Kossow*, 912 So.2d 544, 546 (Fla. 2005). Generally speaking, this Court will not second-guess a referee's recommended

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