IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1332

WILLIAM HENRY WINTERS,

Respondent.

TFB FILE NO. 2009-10,287(13B)

RESPONDENT WINTERS' ANSWER BRIEF

DONALD A. SMITH, JR., ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 265101 TODD W. MESSNER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 76995 SMITH, TOZIAN & HINKLE, P.A. 109 North Brush Street Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33602 813-273-0063 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Winters left Richard Mulholland and Associates in 2001. This was five years before the promulgation of Rule 4-5.8, which now serves as a mandatory directive as to how lawyers and law firms are required to deal in good faith regarding notice to clients about departures. The Florida Bar argues that Mr. Winters, by maintaining control over fewer than ten (10) Mulholland firm files for a few days after his departure from the firm, committed criminal theft. The Bar further asserts that Mr. Winters' non-disclosure of his plans surrounding his departure from the firm amounted to an ethical violation that reflected adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness and fitness as a lawyer. The Bar argues that these alleged facts combine to result in violations of Rules 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d).

The Referee considered the evidence presented by the parties and considered all legal arguments. He carefully weighed the credibility of the evidence and the totality of the circumstances relevant to Mr. Winters' actions. The Referee made Findings of Fact that are unchallenged.

The Bar's argument that Mr. Winters violated Rule 4-8.4(b) hinges on the theory that Mr. Winters violated the criminal theft statute, which first requires proof of intent to deprive the Mulholland firm of property. But the Bar did not prove such a violation by clear and convincing evidence. There is no evidence that

Mr. Winters intended to deprive the Mulholland firm of anything. He simply maintained possession of a few files, which he was authorized to possess, for a few days beyond his last at the firm. The second necessary component of the Bar's argument also fails. The Referee specifically found that Mr. Winters' lack of disclosure of his departure plans was not improper under the circumstances at the Mulholland firm in 2001, or the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Bar's argument misconstrues the elements necessary to prove violations of the rules it cites.

Attempting to sidestep the Referee's findings, the Bar relies on caselaw about lawyers moonlighting in an attempt to mischaracterize Mr. Winters' actions as a misuse of firm resources. Those cases have nothing to do with this case. The Bar also attempts to use the civil case filed by Mr. Mulholland against Mr. Winters and Mr. Yonker, and the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal as binding precedent, despite its own admission that the portions it asserts as precedent are *dicta*, which had no bearing on the ultimate outcome in favor of Mr. Winters. In sum, there is no basis for disturbing the Report of Referee. It should be approved in its entirety.

ARGUMENT

I. The Referee's Recommendation of No Violations of Rule 4-8.4(b), Rule 4-8.4(c) and Rule 4-8.4(d) Should be Affirmed by This Court.

The Referee found, based upon the Findings of Fact, that there were two "technical violations" by Mr. Winters, to wit: "the inclusion of Mr. Alvarez on the letterhead for a short period of time and the personal use of the files of the Mulholland firm." (RR. 12). The Referee recommended that Mr. Winters be found to have violated Rule 4-7.10(f) and Rule 3-4.3. (RR. 13). The Referee expressly found that no other violations were proven by clear and convincing evidence. (RR. 13). The Florida Bar has not met its burden of showing that the Referee erred in finding that no violations of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar were proven by clear and convincing evidence, beyond Rule 4-7.10(f) and Rule 3-4.3.

A. <u>The Referee expressly found no violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) because</u> <u>Mr. Winters did not commit a criminal act that reflected adversely on</u> <u>his honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects.</u>

Mr. Winters "maintained control over less than ten [Mulholland] files upon leaving the law firm." (RR. 10). In order for there to be a finding that this conduct violated Rule 4-8.4(b), the Bar was required to prove two elements by clear and convincing evidence: first, that Mr. Winters committed a criminal theft; and second, that the criminal theft adversely reflected on his honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer. The Bar failed to prove these two elements; accordingly, Mr. Winters was found not to have violated Rule 4-8.4(b).

In 2001, Rule 4-8.4(b) stated that a "lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects." R. Regulating Fla. Bar (2001). Florida's theft statute provided that a "person commits theft if he or she *knowingly obtains or uses* . . . the property of another *with intent to*, either temporarily or permanently: (a) Deprive the other person of a right to the property or a benefit from the property; (b) Appropriate the property to the use of any person *not entitled to the use of the property*." Fla. Stat. § 812.014(1)(2001) (*emphasis added*).

Although the Bar asserts that it does not challenge the Referee's Findings of Fact, it repeatedly attempts to recast Mr. Winters' possession of the files as rising to the level of criminal theft. However, this Court has repeatedly explained that a petitioner who merely continually "restate[s] his arguments . . . cannot prevail on review by contesting factual findings and simply pointing to contradictory evidence, when competent, substantial evidence . . . supports the referee's findings." <u>Florida Bar v. Head</u>, 27 So. 3d 1, 8 (Fla. 2010), <u>citing Florida Bar v.</u> Varner, 992 So. 2d 224, 228 (Fla. 2008).

As a prefatory matter, the Bar appears to fundamentally misinterpret Rule 4-8.4(b), arguing that Mr. Winters' conduct "in itself, reflects adversely on his

honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer." (IB. 27). In doing so, the Bar seems to assert that, even if this Court finds Mr. Winters' conduct was not a criminal theft, it can still find him in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) if his actions reflect "adversely on [his] honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(b). This is not the case. If this Court finds that Mr. Winters' continued possession of a few files for a few days is not criminal theft, the Rule 4-8.4(b) analysis must cease.

Mr. Winters was certainly entitled to possession of the files in the days leading up to his departure. Thus, for the Bar to prove that Mr. Winters intended to deprive the firm of property, his last day at the firm is important. Although the Bar asserts in its Initial Brief that Mr. Winters' last day at the firm was Friday, June 22, 2001, this date is far from certain. (IB. 2; T. 89).

Even after Mr. Winters told Mr. Mulholland that he was leaving the firm, the two men continued to speak and negotiate for an additional week or ten days. (T. 159). Mr. Mulholland and Mr. Winters "went back and forth about whether [Mr. Winters] would stay . . . or go." (T. 159). Because Mr. Winters had been with the firm fifteen years, Mr. Mulholland offered solutions to Mr. Winters' concerns about the firm, offering to "hire more people . . . change things . . . farm cases out," assuring Mr. Winters that his "job was secure." (T. 160). Even Mr. Mulholland

Winters' future with the Mulholland firm were "an ongoing thing," right up until the end. (T. 650).

All conversations ended when Mr. Mulholland served Mr. Winters with a replevin action on June 29, 2001. (T. 642-643, 650-651; FH. Exh. 14). The fact is that Mr. Winters "maintained control over less than ten files upon leaving the [Mulholland] law firm." (RR. 10). Only when served the Writ did Mr. Winters appreciate that Mr. Mulholland was ostensibly concerned about the physical location of the files. Prior to that time, Mr. Mulholland was not aware of file locations, as demonstrated by his sworn petition that included files that were not in Mr. Winters' possession, but were instead misfiled at the Mulholland office. (T. 642-643; FH. Exhs. 14, 14A). It was not until Mr. Mulholland was sure that Mr. Winters could not be convinced to stay, that he filed for the Writ of Replevin and Mr. Winters became another former Mulholland firm employee that needed to be "immediately dismissed." (RR. 7). Once Mr. Winters was served with the Writ of Replevin, he promptly returned the files. (T. 168, 169; FH. Exh. 14A).

Mr. Winters' actions subsequent to his departure do not comport with the Bar's theory of criminal intent. In August 2001, Mr. Winters returned to the firm to try the case of Christine Craig, on which he had worked before his departure. (T. 175-179; FH. Exhs. 36, 43). He "was available for [the Mulholland] firm for the rest of the year [2001] to help them out on cases that [he] was familiar with."

(T. 175). He was working on the files right up through and beyond his departure, even making himself available to Kenneth Cate, the only attorney at the Mulholland firm, into the fall of 2001. (T. 175-179; FH. Exhs. 36, 43). This willingness to return to assist clients, coupled with his nebulous departure date in the first place, belies The Florida Bar's assertion that Mr. Winters intended to deprive the firm of client files and better his own position.

The Bar also argues that "secretly meeting with clients and signing them to new fee agreements" reflects adversely on Mr. Winters and violates Rule 4-8.4(b). (IB. 30-31). On this issue, the Referee found that the manner in which the Mulholland firm was run "is deeply intertwined with the matters regarding Mr. Winters and Mr. Yonker." (RR. 6). The Bar argues that this finding essentially condones self-help by Mr. Winters and justified his conduct – that the Referee excused Mr. Winters' actions because of Mr. Mulholland's firm management. (RR. 6; IB. 30). To the contrary, the Referee never condoned any conduct proven to have been a rule violation. In fact, he found that Mr. Winters violated rules and should be disciplined.

Furthermore, the Referee rejected the Bar's argument that having files for a few days rises to the level of criminal theft. For example, the Referee stated "I'm not labeling these lawyers as thieves. I'm just saying, a technical violation by appropriating the files on a temporary basis to their own use, it was not in the

interest of Mr. Mulholland's law firm. If somebody wants to label that, they would be mislabeling it." (SH. 77). The Referee recognized the novelty of the Bar's charge, when he doubted that counsel for either Mr. Winters or the Bar had "found a case where anybody has been prosecuted for anything like this." (SH. 77).

When directly asked how the Bar would handle a situation like an attorney prosecuted "for anything like this," the Bar conceded that the criminal statute might not be applicable. (SH. 77-78). The Bar acknowledged that it "would have to look at the facts-specific . . . [and] does evaluate cases based on the Bar standards, not necessarily on a criminal standard." (SH. 78).

Just as the Bar conceded, the Referee evaluated Mr. Winters' possession of a few files for a few days in view of the "facts-specific" and the "Bar standards" in this case. (SH. 78). He concluded that the Bar failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that Mr. Winters' actions constituted a criminal theft. Accordingly, no criminal act reflected adversely on Mr. Winters' honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer. As such, the Referee expressly found no violation of Rule 4-8.4(b).

CASELAW

This Court has never held that maintaining control over less than ten files for a few days after departing a law firm was theft. No authority exists for such a claim. The Bar's reliance on <u>Florida Bar v. Kossow</u>, 912 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2005), is

misplaced. Indeed, despite citing sizable sections of the Court's analysis in <u>Kossow</u>, the Bar ignores the facts underpinning the case and the authority upon which it is based, including <u>Florida Bar v. Cox</u>, 655 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1995). Further, although the Bar cites these cases as authority under which this Court should find that Mr. Winters violated Rule 4-8.4(b), both <u>Kossow</u> and <u>Cox</u> are Rule 4-8.4(c) cases. They do not provide authority that supports the Bar's assertion that Mr. Winters violated Rule 4-8.4(b).

<u>Kossow</u> and <u>Cox</u> are moonlighting cases. For at least 3 months, Kossow "continued to represent clients outside of the firm and accept new clients despite his knowledge of the firm's policy against outside employment." <u>Id.</u> at 546. Kossow "emailed documents to himself, had the firm's administrative staff copy books and treatises from the firm's library, and utilized work time to talk to other members of the firm about his outside cases." <u>Id.</u> The Court concluded that "by using the firm's equipment, materials, and time . . . [he] misappropriated the resources of the firm." <u>Id.</u> Kossow earned at least \$18,500 handling matters for outside clients. <u>Id.</u> at 545.

Unlike Mr. Winters, who maintained control over fewer than ten Mulholland files for a matter of days after his departure from the firm, Kossow operated his "clandestine activities" for several months, despite being "given a number of opportunities to disclose, admit, and confront his misconduct." <u>Id.</u> at 548 (Lewis,

J., concurring). The Bar does not argue and the facts do not support any claim that Mr. Winters used any Mulholland firm staff or resources inappropriately. Mr. Winters used neither firm equipment nor firm materials. There are no factual similarities between Mr. Winters' conduct and that of Kossow.

Specifically, the Court noted in <u>Kossow</u> that: "[i]n prior cases, we have suspended attorneys who moonlighted in contravention of firm policy and who willfully deceived their firms with regard to this outside representation." <u>Kossow</u> at 547. Citing <u>Cox</u>, where the respondent also represented clients on the side, without the consent of his employer law firm and in contravention of firm policy, the <u>Kossow</u> Court held that a suspension was appropriate "[w]ith regard to Kossow's ongoing misuse of the firm's resources to represent his own personal clients." <u>Id.</u> at 547.

In <u>Cox</u>, the respondent "billed [personal] clients on firm stationary . . . requested in writing that the clients make payments to him personally rather than to the firm . . . [and] actually collected and kept some of these fees." <u>Cox</u> at 1122. All of this, Cox did without the knowledge or consent of the firm that employed him. Then, after initially denying it and being presented with documentary evidence in each case, Cox "admit[ted] that he engaged in 'moonlighting.'" <u>Id.</u> at 1123. <u>Kossow</u> cited <u>Cox</u> for the proposition that unauthorized moonlighting constituted grounds for serious discipline.

The Bar repeatedly characterizes the "secret plans" of Mr. Winters in an effort to buttress its moonlighting argument. But the Referee's unchallenged Findings of Fact regarding "secret plans" undermine the Bar's argument. (RR. 11-12). The Referee concluded that Mr. Winters' failure to disclose his departure was reasonable in view of the past actions of Mr. Mulholland in such situations. Id. The Bar cites the language of <u>Kossow</u> and <u>Cox</u> to suggest that any attorney who places personal interest over the interest of the firm engages in misconduct worthy of suspension. This suggestion is misplaced. Any time an employee leaves one job for another, he puts his own interest ahead of those of his former employer; any time a lawyer leaves a law firm, he is potentially guilty of secretly preparing his next move at the expense of his former firm. But a violation of our rules does not necessarily result. This was particularly true in 2001, before Rule 4-5.8 was established.

Mr. Winters was not moonlighting. Because there are no cases analogous to Mr. Winters' conduct that have risen to the Supreme Court level, the Bar attempts to analyze Mr. Winters' actions with precedent that involves completely different facts. The Bar is forced to do this for two reasons: one, as discussed above, Rule 4-5.8 was not established to govern the procedure for lawyers leaving law firms in 2001; and two, a lawyer maintaining control over fewer than ten files for a few days is not the conduct that rises to the Supreme Court level. Having a few files

for a few days is not action that has ever been or should now be characterized as criminal theft or found to violate Rule 4-8.4(b).

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